CONVERSION – CALLING – COLLEGE – COURTSHIP
When I was a kid, “grown-ups” asked me what I wanted to be when I grew up. My answer usually depended on what interested me in that particular moment. All through Grammar School and High School, I was the youngest guy in my class and partly for that reason, I was smaller. I was a good swimmer, but that didn’t count for much in school sports. I tried to make up for my disadvantage in other ways. I became pretty good at shooting marbles and inventing crazy things to make or do. I took the handlebars off my bike and mounted a steering wheel from a junk car in its place. At thirteen, I built a go-cart from a discarded baby carriage and lawn mower motor.    

Most of my teachers were disappointed in my scholastic progress, but they always praised me for my artistic ability. My sixth grade teacher told me that I should plan to study art in college. I asked, “Why? Everyone says that I am good at art. I want to learn what I am not good at.”  In my Senior year of High School, I experienced a growth spurt and voice change, but I felt that I would never be “grown up” until I had a driver’s license and wheels.  I acquired a 1924 Model T Ford at 15 and completely restored it. I was knowledgeable in engine and body work and guys admired my ability to equip cars with “after burners” by welding sparkplugs in the exhaust pipes and wiring them to a Model T ignition coil. I didn’t turn 17 until shortly before High School graduation and skipped school to get my driver’s license on my birthday. I was finally grown up! 

It is normal for people to ask a High School Senior what he or she plans to do after graduation. Some plan to get a college or university education, but I was finished with school – or so I thought. I gathered all my papers from the school locker and burned then ceremoniously with friends watching and laughing.

I enjoyed working on cars, had musical and artistic gifts and my Senior English teacher suggested that I should become a journalist. Because my father and grandfather were builders, most people assumed that I would follow in their footsteps. I enjoyed all aspects of the construction trade and had already become rather accomplished at architecture, masonry, framing, plumbing, roofing and finishing work. 

When my Sunday School teacher and a few other church members asked me what I was going to do with my life, I assumed that they meant, what would I choose for an occupation. But I soon discovered that they were concerned about my spiritual condition. It was a question that I began to think seriously about. I had attended Word of Life youth rallies at which Jack Wyrtzen often quoted some long dead saint, “Only one life, twill soon be past; only what’s done for Christ will last.” I had thought quite a lot about my future occupation, but it never occurred to me that I should be “doing something with my life.” That consideration took me captive and I often found myself thinking about the question. I didn’t really look at it from a spiritual perspective, but from a purely human consideration. I should give careful consideration to my future career. I should leave a legacy or model for others to follow. It was not just what I wanted or liked, but “doing something worthwhile and of lasting value.”  
All that changed dramatically after I gave my life to Jesus. 
GOD'S PATIENT PRODDING

To begin with, I want to say that I have only told the entire story of my conversion experience on two occasions.  Both times, I wished that I had not done so.  There are five reasons for this reluctance to share some details of the most important event in my life:  

1) First of all, my conversion was quite unusual. I fear that others hearing my testimony could conclude that they too, should have a similar experience. 

2) Secondly, The story of my life and God’s work in preparing me for ministry is a very long story!

3) Thirdly, I find it very difficult to tell certain parts of my testimony without getting choked up and teary-eyed. 
4) Fourthly, the reaction of those who heard my testimony was not exactly encouraging.  People questioned whether I was telling them the truth or accused me of exaggerating. 
5) The fifth reason, is that I am ashamed of some of my past and would rather forget it. 
I will share in part and hope that readers will understand. 

A CHRISTIAN FAMILY

I wish that all children had the privilege of growing up in a Christian home as I did. My parents certainly had no easy task, raising eleven children. They had twelve, but one child died shortly after birth. My parents also took care of two cousins and a couple of boys from another family for longer periods of time. I remember one of my aunts saying of my older sister, Ann, "She is sugar and spice, and everything nice, that's what little girls are made of." Then she turned to me and said, "Sticks and snails and puppy dog tails, that is what you are made of!" She was joking, but I was constantly being told by nearly everyone all the time, that I was very naughty, if not incorrigible. The first time I heard that adjective, I had to ask what “incorrigible” meant. 

It seemed difficult to perceive of anyone saying something negative about me as a joke! No matter how much my parents scolded and spanked me, there seemed to be little improvement in my behavior. I remember often wondering what made me do so many bad things.

DEACON'S KID

My parents tried their best to encourage us to follow the teachings of Christ. At the time of my birth, they were Lutheran, so I was presumably baptized as an infant. They transferred membership to a Presbyterian Church in February 1946 and I was baptized into that denomination. Still later, in November, 1953, I was again baptized when our family joined a Baptist Church. Unfortunately, neither sprinkling, pouring nor immersing were successful in changing my inclination to commit evil. 

During my High School years I led a double life. I was active in the "Baptist Youth Fellowship", and was even democratically elected to serve as BYF-President.  I attended Hi-BA Club meetings ("High School Born-Againers") but among school friends, I was anything but Christian. I didn't drink or smoke (except for an occasional cigarette to be one of the guys), but my vocabulary was certainly not becoming of a deacon's kid. I also learned to lie, cheat and steal without getting caught (most of the time). Whenever I did get caught, my parents would quote the scriptural injunction, "Be sure your sins will find you out" before administering the standard punishment. I can remember inwardly gloating that I had gotten away with the same evil deed many times before, without getting caught. 

Thirty years later, after I had served many years as a missionary, my mother discovered a verse in Deuteronomy 21:17 which states that the oldest son should get a double portion of the inheritance. When she showed me the verse, I continued reading the passage to her out loud. In the same chapter, parents of an unruly son were to take him outside the city and have him publicly stoned! 
I actually received a double portion of the inheritance. Two times zero is zero.
SCHOOL DAZE

My teachers all seemed to agree that I was very intelligent and gifted. Unfortunately, that statement was always followed by “but...” which indicated that they were generally dissatisfied with my academic achievements and behavior. Typical notes on my report cards:

"Ralph is a good thinker, but he is careless about talking and drawing at the wrong times.”

“Ralph is very active in class discussions but he has more ability than he applies." 

“Ralph is a very gifted child but he is lazy.”

“Ralph is very intelligent, but he would rather stand on his head than his feet!”

The typical response of my Mother to my teachers was, "Ralph only seems to respond to force. You have our permission to use it!"

Half way through First Grade I was moved into Second Grade. I never learned the reason, but the teacher probably wanted to get rid of me. Whatever the reason, I was the youngest in my class throughout those terrible school years. 

To the consternation of my parents, I did learn a few things at school. I learned some new vocabulary from classmates, for example. When I repeated those words in the presence of my mother, I was made to take a bite of Ivory Soap and chew it. I became quite cautious about repeating new words around home. Mom never gave me Ivory Soap to chew again. I got a terrible rash and the school nurse asked me a few questions about my diet. When she learned of the punishment for swearing, Mom received counseling from a school official! 

My grades in High School were such that I wasn't particularly eager to show them to my parents. A parent’s signature was required on report cards at the end of each marking period, however, so I "lost" my report card after the first marking period. Whatever I told the records office must have sounded convincing, for they issued me a new one. From that point on, I signed my Mother's name on the real report and let her sign the other, into which I of course entered higher grades! This worked better than expected  - for a while. When I skipped school, I also wrote my own excuses, signing my Mother's name. The School Director always compared signatures on excuses from home with the ones on our report cards, so he wasn’t suspicious. This system functioned great until I really was sick and my Mother wrote an authentic excuse which I neglected to counterfeit. She promptly received a call from the School Director. Mom confirmed the fact that I had been sick; he apologized for the call and hung up. Ten minutes later, he was back on the phone again. "Was Ralph also sick on the following days?" and rattled off a list of dates! When my Father got home from work, I discovered that a sixteen-year-old was not too big to spank!

CORPORAL PUNISHMENT

When I had earned a spanking, I sometimes had to go out and cut a switch from a tree as part of my punishment, but usually, I was simply told to "fetch the paddle". All eleven of us knew exactly where to find it. Pop called it "The Board of Education Applied to the Seat of Learning." One wide paddle (the narrow paddles hurt more and had a way of mysteriously disappearing) was decorated with an appropriate verse of Scripture: "To humble thee and to prove thee, and to do thee good at thy latter end." (Deuteronomy 8:10)

I got plenty of spankings, but deserved them all and more! When Mom determined that a misdemeanor required more forceful attention than she was able to administer, she let me wait until my father got home from work. The anticipation of such an occasion was worse than the actual experience. On one occasion, I remember going to my room to prepare for the inevitable. I pulled on three pairs of jeans, hoping to cushion the blows. That was a mistake! My father could tell by my hollering and the muffled sound of the paddle on my posterior, that something was amiss. He soon discovered the problem and the remainder of my spanking was applied with no protection whatsoever!

Today, I hear many people, even Christians, declare that children should not be spanked. I am certainly against brutality and don't espouse all the disciplinary measures used by my own parents, but I am convinced that the Creator put an extra portion of padding and numerous nerve endings on a child's posterior for good reason.  Our children needed few spankings before they learned that "no" meant "no". People who claim that spankings do physical harm to their children, often resort to screaming and name-calling, which harms them psychologically. 
I think that permissiveness is probably the greatest destroyer of children. School coaches train youngsters until their bodies are bruised and near physical exhaustion. Do parents go on the warpath against them? Certainly not! They want their child to excel in sports. Most parents allow their children to eat food which ruins their teeth and health; spend hours in front of a TV, ruining their eyes and contaminating the brain; or listen to music loud enough to damage their ear drums. Yet slapping a child on his or her posterior for being disobedient or disrespectful is considered a criminal act.

My parents discovered other ways to punish me after they became convinced that spankings did no good. I was good at memorization, so at some point, they began to punish me by making me learn Bible verses. I can still quote most of the Proverbs that speak of "unruly sons." That method of punishment may have been helpful, but it was not my favorite, nor did we ever use it on our own children. 

PRAYER MEETINGS and CAMPING 

When I was seven or eight years of age, I begged my parents to allow me to go to camp, but they said that I was too young. I insisted that other kids my age were going, "Besides, why would they have a camp for children my age, if we are too young?" The real reason for their reluctance in sending me to camp finally surfaced: "It costs a lot of money to send kids to camp. We aren't rich, you know."

Logical reasoning was always my greatest strength. I developed this gift early because it proved invaluable in getting me out of work and trouble (it also got me into trouble often enough). My logic machine was functioning well. If I continued to beg, I knew from bitter experience that my parents would start bargaining. There were plenty of jobs around our house that even little boys could do. I reasoned that there must be a better way to get to camp, than to spend countless hours weeding the garden. 

I decided to play upon the heartstrings of a more compassionate soul, like my Sunday School teacher. She was the person who had suggested going to camp in the first place. During Sunday School, I behaved myself as well as could be expected for a lad my age. Finally, the opportune moment arrived. I can't remember the details now, but with a very sad countenance, I expounded upon the unfortunate plight of children who live in large families and whose parents can't afford to send them to camp. The following Sunday, a wonderful thing happened! The Pastor announced that the church was making money available to help poor, underprivileged children get to camp! 

I remember getting homesick on the first night of camp, but enjoyed every minute after that. On the final night, there was a hot-dog roast around a big campfire. Awards were presented to the kids who kept the cleanest cabin and to winners of various contests. After the fire died down, a leader told some funny stories and we sang our favorite camp songs. 

The Camp Director brought the message, painting a vivid picture of that horrible place called hell, the final destination of all sinners. He then compared this to the mansions in glory which God was preparing for all Christians. Afterwards, the invitation was given. He asked how many of us would prefer going to heaven rather than to hell. Burning logs provided a dramatic backdrop for his challenge. If we were prepared to take that "step of faith," all we needed to do was to raise our hands. Our options being so clearly defined, most of us chose heaven rather than hell on that memorable night. 

On the following Sunday, the Pastor herded all campers to the front of the church and asked us to share our camping experiences. Apparently he had heard about the campfire service, for he asked me if I had experienced anything "really special" at camp.  I told about swimming and long hikes, but he kept prodding.  I was nearly in tears when he finally asked if I had not invited Jesus to come into my heart. If I had known then the consequences of an affirmative answer, I would have denied with all my might - like Peter at the crucifixion!  But I was anxious to get back to my seat. I smiled and gave an affirmative reply. 

From that time on, the night of the campfire became a very memorable experience! My parents especially, would not let me forget the occasion.  I was not such a good boy, and it seemed like every time I did something wrong, my mother or father would remind me of that night by the campfire. "Christians don't do such things," they would say. As I soon discovered, Christians do get spanked. It never occurred to me that I probably would have gotten the same spankings if I had not "become a Christian."  I vowed that I would never, ever again raise my hand in a meeting! I still liked going to camps, though.

In order to keep peace with my parents, I attended most church functions including mid-week prayer meetings. I suspicioned that the reason most people went to prayer meeting, was to get caught up on all the news that small-town newspapers were afraid to print. Good Christians don't gossip, but some are careful to share detailed prayer requests about evil deeds of the town's heathen population. 

SERGEANT PRESTON

There were several individuals who didn't fit that description at all; "Sergeant Preston" was one of them. "Brother Preston," or "Sergeant," as the youth called him, was about ninety years old and a dear saint. He was intelligent and mechanically gifted (something I appreciated). He had been a "Professional Trouble Shooter" by occupation and even after retirement, his services were frequently requested. If there was a problem that no one else could solve, Preston was called in and he was usually successful. 

The electric company once called on him for an emergency. Engineers were trying to figure out how to lower a huge transformer, weighing tons, into a concrete pit. There was no room to put cables around it, nor any way to hook onto it with a crane. "Sergeant Preston" drove to the site, sized up the situation with a glance, and then gave orders: "Bring me a truckload of ice, a garden hose and a small water pump!" He then had them fill the pit with ice and slide the transformer on top. As the ice melted, the transformer descended gently to the bottom of the pit while the water was pumped out. 

When people praised Preston's genius, he would simply give thanks to God for wisdom. Some believers prayed long prayers and Mrs. Preston’s prayers never seemed to end. Brother Preston saw no more reason for "fancy prayers" than for "fancy solutions" to problems, if a simple one would suffice. One-sentence prayers (for ex.: "Thank you for your faithfulness!") were his trade mark and they probably influenced me as much as the sermons I heard. He had a heart for young people and on more than one occasion, he put his hand on my shoulder and asked what I was going to do with my life. 
AN OBNOXIOUS CONVERT

A few weeks before my graduation from High School, I had an experience which played an important role in my conversion.  A soldier named George showed up one day in church and gave his testimony. He had "gotten saved" in the Army, and being from the Elmer area, he knew of my "other life" with godless friends. He spoke to me about my "relationship with the Lord," but I despised him and tried to avoid him after that. George’s car was a 4-door sedan with mud flaps, and that alone proved him to be some kind of a wierdo! He also smoked. I had many friends who smoked, but they didn't claim to be Christians. Because it was a convenient argument, I pointed out this "unchristian habit" to him. He quit smoking and kept after me.

One evening, George had the nerve to pray publicly in prayer meeting for my salvation - in my presence! I was inwardly furious, yet I knew that he was right!  As soon as prayer meeting was over, I walked outside, deeply convicted of sin.  Later, I learned that poor George was inside getting raked over the coals for his "insults and discourteous actions." 

George’s mother had gotten saved later in life and his sister and her husband had also gotten converted. In fact, I was friends of all three of their boys. One of them is now our church organist!

POLICE CHASE

On May 6, 1956, I was involved in an escapade which ended in a wild police chase.  One warm spring evening, a carload of laughing youth drove into the gas station where I liked to hang out. They had been taunting a drunk farmer "just for kicks",  driving repeatedly past his house and blowing the car horn until he got into his old pickup truck and tried to chase them. He was so drunk, he could hardly keep his vehicle on the road. 

Always ready for excitement, my friend and I jumped into my convertible and followed them. A third car filled with youth also decided to get in on the fun. We drove to the farmhouse and began to blow our horns and yell, hoping the farmer would again chase us in his pickup. Sure enough, headlights turned on in the driveway and began to move rapidly toward the road. We fled the scene with exhaust pipes roaring and tires spinning. 

What we did not know, was that the drunk farmer's wife had notified the police. Only after the patrol car turned on its flashing red lights, did it become clear to us that we were not trying to out-run a drunk in an old truck! Instead of stopping to take our medicine, all three cars fled the scene as fast as we could travel, which was pretty fast!  Arriving at an intersection with a stop sign, the driver of the first car switched off his lights and drove straight through.  There was a slight curve after the intersection and the driver lost control of the vehicle. I watched as the car flipped into a field, landing on its roof.  The driver of the second car braked and appeared to be stopping, but instead, he too switched off his headlights, made a right turn, and disappeared into the night. 

Almost rolling my own car in the process, I switched off the lights and turned left. The friend who was riding with me confessed later, that he had never been so scared in all his life. With lights still turned off, I pushed my car to its limit and was relieved to note in the rear view mirror, that the patrol car had stopped at the accident. After dropping my friend off, I drove home and parked my car behind the house where it could not be seen from the road. I sneaked up the stairs to my bedroom and finally drifted off to sleep.  

To my dismay, a State Trooper showed up at our house the following morning with a summons asking me to appear in court.  I tried denying, but it was of no use. The judge said that if I could prove that there was another pink 1952 Ford convertible with flames air brushed across the hood and front fenders, he would consider the possibility of my innocence! I discovered later, that someone at the traffic circle had provided the description of the car he had been chasing.

Fortunately, no one was killed or badly injured that night. Many years later, one of my siblings discovered a tablet filled with Mom’s poetry. One poem was written immediately after that incident that has become a favorite of my siblings. In one line Mom wrote, “The State Cop’s here for Ralph again!”

CRIMINAL RECORD  

The day of our court appearance arrived soon enough. One of the drivers involved had been previously convicted of serious offenses. In addition to a hefty fine, his driver's license was revoked indefinitely. The driver of the accident car and I received stiff fines.  After the hearing was over, I saw that the court clerk had left his desk unattended. On my way out of the courtroom, I reached out and grabbed the folder containing my records. I had 30 days to pay the fine, but decided to wait, hoping that I could get away without paying. 

A month later, I received another summons to appear before the judge. There was no discussion at all. The judge simply ordered me locked up in the county jail for failing to pay the fine!  I had not expected this! I pleaded for another chance and promised to pay the fine within 12 hours. It was of no use. The judge probably suspected that I had stolen the records, but he also knew that there would be little hope of proving it. I soon found myself locked up in a smoke-filled room with a dozen or more inmates. 

I recalled a previous occasion, when my father had to pick me up at the police station. I had skipped school and gotten caught shoplifting. I shall never forget the trip home. My father hardly spoke a word, but tears were streaming down his face. I tried to apologize, but he didn't answer. That was one occasion, when I didn't get a whipping. 

The inmates welcomed me and invited me to play cards with them, but I declined. When supper was served, I had no appetite. I wondered if my parents had been notified and how they might react. I cringed at the prospect of them visiting me in jail!

ANOTHER CHANCE

The warden seemed to read my thoughts and asked for my name. He said that he knew my grandfather and offered to let me call home. I declined. It seemed like an eternity, but after six hours I was released.  The warden apparently put in a good word for me. I was given exactly 24 hours to pay the fine, plus an additional fine for missing the deadline. I didn't have enough money and decided to sell my car rather than trying to borrow the funds. I made numerous phone calls and drove to several used car lots. Finally, a dealer offered to take the car. He offered me only a fraction of what the car was worth, but I accepted rather than risk going back to jail!

Some 35 years later, I was to be reminded again of this experience. In order to get a permanent visa in Austria, I needed to obtain a "Good Conduct Reference" from the Salem County Courthouse in New Jersey. The letter stated that my records had been searched back as far as June, 1956 and that no criminal records could be found. When my wife read that, she asked, "What did you do in May, 1956?"

SNUBBED GRACE

I knew that God was speaking to me, but I was still not prepared to listen. I should have been sobered by recent experiences, but my main concern now, was getting another car!

The owner of a junk yard near where I lived seemed amused at the way I could put a decent car together, using parts from various junk cars. He would let me collect all the components needed and then quote me a price for everything. I was not long without transportation. This time, my car cost $50 less engine, which I had sitting in the garage.  On May 29, 1956, I worked late into the night to get the car running. The next day was Memorial Day, and I had invited a girl to accompany me to the beach.  

MEMORIAL DAY

In the morning, I went to pick up my date. As I drove into the driveway of her house however, there was a loud bang and steam began to escape from the engine compartment. I had forgotten to tighten down the bolts on the fan blade, which came loose, slicing the upper water hose.  It was Memorial Day and no shops were open where I could obtain another hose.

The girl's parents were Christians and appeared relieved at my dilemma. They invited us to accompany them on a picnic to "Camp Haluwasa". The name sounds like an Indian name, but is actually derived from the words, "Hallelujah, what a Savior!" 

I was familiar with the camp, having been there with our church youth group. I had a great admiration for the founder and Director of the camp, Charlie Ashmen. We had much in common, particularly the enjoyment we received, making something worthwhile out of junk! Our youth group had helped to clear brush out of low lying areas which later became lakes. I also helped with construction work on cabins and the main pavilion. 

Although I was not keen about riding with my date's parents, I always enjoyed visiting Camp Haluwasa. Besides, I had no other choice!  Little did I know, as I climbed into the back seat of their big Packard, that this was to be the last ride for the "old" Ralph Harvey! 

During the picnic lunch, someone placed a closed can of baked beans in a charcoal griller. The can exploded, splattering me and others with hot beans. No one was injured, but it scared me.  

In the afternoon, there was a meeting in the "Tabernacle", as the pavilion was called. I had helped put shingles on the roof shortly before that. I considered skipping the meeting but the swimming and boating areas were closed during services. There was always lively singing with instrumental accompaniment at Camp Haluwasa and my sister Helen, even sang in the girl's trio. A visiting preacher preached on the parable of the prodigal son. As I listened, God spoke to me. 

He told the story of “The Prodical Son.” It was Memorial Day, 1956, and my mind wandered back to that night by the campfire. I had reacted like any normal kid back then. It was not the prodding of the Holy Spirit and conviction of sin, which had induced me to make a "decision". I felt as though I had been tricked into a conversion. The choice between heaven and hell underscored by a blazing fire was really no choice at all! 

I was also reminded of a summer night after prayer meeting, two years before. It was apparent that circumstances leading up to that moment and this one could not be dismissed as "human manipulation" designed to trick me into becoming a Christian. Nor were recent events in my life the result of mere chance. I was under deep conviction of sin. God was speaking to me and I was the one who was obviously guilty of "dirty tricks"!  I had become a prodigal son, "wasting my substance in riotous living." This sermon was meant for me and I knew it!  An invitation was given, but I could not raise my hand or go forward. This was a matter that had to be settled between God and myself. I prayed in my heart, confessing my wickedness and asking forgiveness. I promised God that I would live for him with all my heart and life. I was still uncertain about the future, but determined to keep my promise to God, no matter what. 

I must have been very quiet on the trip home. I can remember wondering if my conversion was for real. Over and over, I promised God that this time, I meant business! I have been taught that the worst thing that a person can do in this life is to refuse God's gift of forgiveness and eternal life. It would seem to me that to accept that gift and then live as if it were of no value, would be far worse! I had held back for a long time, knowing that a conversion would mean yielding everything to God. But now, I vowed to God that I would go anywhere and do anything He wanted. From that moment on, I belonged to Him!

Some are still convinced that I was converted at a campfire service. Apparently, I also "accepted Christ as my Savior" as a small child on an Easter Sunday, for I have an undated letter from a missionary, Mary Vicinus, congratulating me on that “wonderful event!” 
CHOOSING A BIBLE COLLEGE 

Now that I had become a Christian, further education seemed not only an option, but a logical next step. Both parents and two sisters had attended Philadelphia Bible Institute (subsequently named Philadelphia College of Bible, Philadelphia Biblical University and presently Cairn University), so I sent in my registration and was promptly accepted. I put my car up for sale in order to pay for the first semester. For some reason the car didn't sell, so I decided to wait another semester. When school officials learned of this, they encouraged me to come anyway, arguing that I had a better chance of selling my car in the city. I packed my suitcases into the car and headed for the Bible Institute, but before I had traveled a mile, the transmission gave out. There was no doubt in my mind, that the Lord had something to do with the breakdown. That car had been driven hard with no problems and now, when I was driving carefully, it broke down! I took this as a leading from God, deciding that I should not go.  It was the first of many clear evidences that God was working overtime to get Verna and me together!
Someone had asked me if I had prayed about what college to attend. I had not prayed about the choice of a school. I began to write to colleges and universities, praying that the Lord would lead me to the right one. Soon there were a number of application forms and catalogs on my dresser.  I filled out each form, but still had no clarity about which was the right choice. Then one day I received a letter from Bob Jones University. The Registrar wrote that he had received my application and asked for my High School transcripts. He added that the envelope had not been sealed and my check for the application fee was missing. I was requested to invalidate the check and send a new one.  

I had not sent an application to any school and was puzzled by the letter. In fact, BJU was the only school which my pastor, my parents and other Christian friends had advised me against attending!  They felt the school was too strict and narrow. I searched through the pile of forms on my dresser and the BJU form was missing.  I mentioned this to my parents and my mother looked thoughtful for a moment. Then she said, "I found a postpaid envelope on the floor when cleaning your room. I figured that you had intended to mail it, so I put it in the mailbox." 

I decided, that if my High School transcripts were accepted (my grades were not too impressive), I could accept this as the Lord's leading. 

I headed for Woodstown High and asked for my transcripts. The guidance counselor retrieved my file and studied it a few minutes. Then, with a puzzled look on her face, she said, "Perhaps we should take a closer look at the books we have placed in our high school library."  Now it was my turn to look puzzled. She then explained that according to their records, no student in the history of the school had checked out more library books than I. This did not explain her puzzlement however. I was about to inquire when she continued, "Your file also indicates that you filled out the most behavior reports!"  

Surprisingly, BJU accepted my application -- on probation.

UNIVERSITY YEARS

In September, 1958, my parents drove me to South Carolina. I would have driven there myself, but shortly before leaving for the University, the New Jersey Motor Vehicle Commission sent notification that my driver's license had been suspended. God had forgiven my past sins, but not the State! Normally, a driver's license is revoked after accumulating twelve points. When my past finally caught up with me, I had accumulated twenty-two! 

Apparently, I was not the only student with a dubious past to enroll that year. On the trip to South Carolina, we saw a rather scrubby looking hitch-hiker along the road. He was unshaven, puffing on a cigarette and had large tattoos covering both arms. Mom jokingly asked if we should pick him up; "Perhaps he is heading for Bob Jones!", she jested. We all laughed at the idea, for smoking was strictly forbidden at Bob Jones University. There was no room in the car anyway. When I lined up for registration, I could scarcely believe my eyes when I recognized that hitch hiker in the line ahead of me! To be certain, I asked if he had been hitchhiking and he nodded affirmatively. He had only recently accepted Christ into his life and registered at BJU because "it would be easier to quit smoking there!" His name was Jimmy Carter. He never became President of the United States, but he served as Student Body President and Editor of the University Yearbook before graduating. We became good friends. Students normally joined one of many “societies” or clubs. There were groups for guys and for gals, but no mixed groups! I joined Alpha Omega Delta and was soon editor of our society magazine. Jimmy Carter was elected Vice President of the same society.
FINANCING COLLEGE

Because my finances were quite limited, I immediately became what was called a "Work Loan Student". There was a simple pay scale for all students who worked on campus. Everyone got 35 cents per hour. Having had carpenter experience, I was hired by the Maintenance Shop to repair furniture. 

I found learning at the University to be more difficult than I had imagined. I should have applied myself more in High School, but now was not the time for remorse but for hard work!  Because I received no financial help, I had to work many hours after classes and during vacations. In my Junior and Senior years I even worked part time in a photo studio making frames. 

There was no end of original ways I discovered to save money. I never bought soap, but made regular visits to the showers, collecting leftover scraps of soap from the soap dishes. By pressing these together while still soft, they could be formed into multi-colored soap bars. To earn money, I bought and sold articles and ran errands. 

As already mentioned, I have always delighted in making useful and worthwhile things from other people's rubbish. I did minor appliance repairs and once a month, I purchased broken or damaged items, especially umbrellas, at the "Lost & Found Auction" on campus. After fixing these items, I sold them for a profit. My roommates complained about the room looking like an umbrella factory, but I did provide them with free umbrellas.  It wasn't long before our dormitory room became known as "Harvey's Hock Shop."

My experience with cars also came in handy (my driver's license was restored after six months). I discovered that old cars were plentiful in South Carolina where no salt is spread on highways. For the same reason, late model cars were cheaper in the North. After summer and during Christmas vacations, I purchased late model cars with the money I earned. After making repairs and sometimes painting them, I drove the cars South to sell for a profit. For the trip north, I bought "oldies" to sell in New Jersey. Filling the car with paying passengers more than compensated the travel expenses.

Sometime during the first semester, the BJU Museum and Art Gallery Curator, Murray Havens, asked the Maintenance Shop Director if he could recommend someone to help make and alter picture frames and my name was suggested. 

I had the privilege of working four years in the BJU Museum & Art Gallery. After just one semester,  however, I told the Curator that I was dropping out to work for a semester rather than pile up college debt. He told the University President, Dr. Bob Jones Jr. and Dr. Jones sent me to see  the university Treasurer, "Lefty" Johnson.  Dr. Johnson said that I would be paid $1 per hour, but I was not to share this information with anyone! Before long, I was doing hand carving, gold leaf work and mastering the art of "antiquing." This was exactly the opposite of what I was accustomed to. Instead of making old cars look like new, my job was making new frames look old! I found the work challenging and soon became an expert at the process. The museum curator was fascinated with some of the original methods I used to get the desired results. After carving the design, but before applying gold leaf, I drilled different size "worm holes" to make them look authentic.  When I finished applying the gold leaf, I beat the frames with chains, rubbed sand or dirt into the low areas and used carbon paper, coffee grounds and shoe polish to get a desired color or effect. 

A couple of decades earlier, a blight killed many chestnut trees along the eastern seaboard. Because the wood was riddled with worm holes, much of the wood was burned, but some farmers kept lumber to use around the farm. The wood was similar to oak and ideally suited for making hand-carved frames. It was cheap and had natural worm holes! 

I soon learned to do specialized work, such as cleaning and restoring valuable paintings and icons. The most challenging and fascinating job was transferring paintings from warped wooden panels to canvas. For this, we had a giant heat table filled with wax. The painted side of the panel was covered with thin cellophane attached with special glue that would not harm the painting. The table was heated until the wax liquefied, after which we sought to eliminate any air pockets. The wax was then allowed to cool. Then began the tedious process of carefully scraping the wood from the back of the painting. The procedure became increasingly difficult as the gesso ground coat became visible. When all traces of the wood were painstakingly removed, the wax was re-heated to allow the painting to flatten and then harden for the final reversed step: attaching the canvas to the back of the painting!

Before I graduated, I was restoring and repairing centuries-old paintings of renowned masters - without any formal training whatsoever. Mr. Havens, the Museum Curator, was a very talented and dedicated man. I became quite attached to him and enjoyed learning the various processes of restoration. 
It was no secret that the art gallery was the personal hobby if not an obsession of the University President and son of the founder, Dr. Bob Jones Jr..  Occasionally, he would come over and quietly watch us work. 

One afternoon, Mr. Haven’s sons came into the workshop while I was applying gold leaf to a frame. For this process, we used what was called “rabbit skin glue.” I used to raise rabbits and dried the skins on stretchers before sending them to the tannery. The glue had a similar smell. One of the boys accidentally knocked over my container of glue and I said, “That is going to cost you two months allowance!” He knew I was joking and replied that a barrel of rabbit skin glue probably cost less than a dollar. I countered, “If it was that cheap, they would be feeding it to us in the dining common.” I suddenly remembered that the President was sitting there and prepared to apologize, but he spoke first, “I’ll have to check that out,” he said with a grin.

Mr. Havens took his work too seriously, however. He would work late into the night and if he discovered the slightest imperfection in his work, he would start all over again. He had a serious nervous breakdown and had to be released from his job. It was such a disappointment for him that he took his own life. I was very upset over his death. 

In my Senior year, I twice drove a tractor-trailer truck to New York City to pick up donated paintings and medieval furniture for the Art Gallery. A student accompanied me on the first trip to the city. We left at night and I asked if he wanted to drive first, but he declined. Instead of sleeping, however, he talked incessantly. I finally told him to drive while I slept, but he kept talking so that I couldn't get to sleep. When I finally did drift off, a sudden jolt awakened me. The huge truck had veered onto the shoulder and was precariously close to a ditch. The driver had fallen asleep at the wheel! I reached over and grabbed the wheel, guiding the truck safely back onto the roadway. I then insisted on driving the rest of the way. My companion slept like a baby for the remainder of the trip!

On the second trip, I was accompanied by a member of staff named Melvin Stratton, who was in charge of the Rodeheaver Auditorium stage. We had an uneventful trip to the city, but arrived in New York on trash collection day! That was an experience that I shall never forget! 

When we finally reached the warehouse, it was closed, so we parked the truck on the street and found a place to spend the night. Parking lights were required on the street and by morning, the truck’s 24-volt battery was stone dead. We took the battery to a garage to get it charged while the truck was being loaded. I got the job of re-installing the battery and actually lost my shirt - and pants - on that job! I dropped a wrench, which landed on the battery, short-circuiting the terminals. With a loud bang, the battery literally exploded, spraying me with pieces of battery and acid. Without a moment of hesitation, I stripped down to my undershorts in the middle of that New York City street! The truck cab needed new paint after that and another pot-hole was added to the street. Fortunately for me, only a few drops of acid landed on my skin. My clothes were ruined though. 

Since my arrival at the university, I had gained several additional career options, but "truck driver" was struck from the list that day!

A WIFE FOR LIFE!

Following Murray Haven’s untimely death, I was the only male worker among about 20 employees in the Art Gallery. Mrs. Dorothy Lewis, wife of a University Dean, Dr. Marvin Lewis, worked in the gallery office and was in charge of employees. In my Senior year, she knew that I was still unattached and asked if I had ever dated any of the Art Gallery girls. It never occurred to her that this was against school rules. BJU had strict rules governing boy/girl relationships. There was to be no kissing or even hand holding. We were not allowed to date off campus without a certified staff chaperone -- nor to date someone employed in the same workplace!  

I replied that I was planning to enter foreign missions and had promised God to date only those girls who were interested in missions. Mrs. Lewis said that two of the girls were considering missions, and gave me their names.  One already had a boyfriend and the other was Verna. I think Mrs. Lewis had been trying to figure a way to orchestrate a get-together, because the Pastor of Verna's church, who later married us, was Mrs. Lewis's brother-in-law. After earning his Masters degree, Rev. Thomas Stacey married the sister of Dr. Marvin Lewis, who had been serving as BJU Dean of Women! 

I decided that since Mrs. Lewis's husband was responsible for enforcing the rules and she had suggested it, I could safely ask Verna for a date. Our first date was on February 23, 1962. I had seen her earlier in the day, just before she left for the noon meal. I had already eaten and she asked me what was for lunch. I said, "Enthusiasm soup."  "What is that?" she wanted to know.  I said, "You put everything you have into it." Without a moment's hesitation, Verna responded, "I thought that was a woman’s girdle!" Then, realizing what she had just said, her face turned beet red! That was a different punchline to the same joke.
We began dating but I had promised God that I would not date the same girl more than three times, unless He made it clear to me that she might become my wife! After three dates without such assurance, there was a week or two pause. Verna wondered if it was all over, but I didn't feel free to explain to her, nor to ask for another date while I was praying for God's guidance. And I didn't want to break my promise to God. I thought, how does a young man get that kind of information from God? Should I "lay out the fleece" like the Old Testament judge, Gideon? Or could I expect to have a special vision? Should I ask God to affirm or remove my strong feelings for Verna? Then I read Matthew 6:33; "Seek ye first the kingdom of God and his righteousness, and all these things shall be added unto you." I could not perceive Verna as a "thing" but this verse gave me hope. 

Then, during one of those early morning quiet times with the Lord, I came across another verse: "Delight thyself also in the Lord and he shall give thee the desires of thine heart" (Psalm 37:4). I had often read and heard this verse, but always thought that it meant God gives us what we want or long for. This time, the verse was saying something else to me. It was telling me that God actually gives us HIS desires (what God wants) if we delight in Him! This threw an entirely different light on the subject. In my case, my love for Verna could be considered a gift from God! We began dating again and on May 6, 1962, my brother Dave called home and told my parents, "Ralph is hooked!"

Upon graduation, I was invited to accept a position at the prestigious Philadelphia Museum of Art, but the world's most prominent period frame maker, Henry Heydenryk Jr., made me a more lucrative offer. The BJU gallery had often purchased frames from Heydenryk, but more than a year had passed with no orders, so Mr. Heydenryk stopped by the gallery to discover the reason. When he learned that a student was making frames, he said that such valuable paintings should not be displayed in inappropriate and inferior frames. The University President showed Mr. Heydenryk through the gallery, asking him to point out the frames which he objected to. He found none, but carefully examined frame after frame that I had made. 
I was in the workshop doing gold leaf work at the time so Mr. Heydenryk asked to meet me. Gilders generally use a camel hair brush to lay gold leaf, but I was using a single edged razor blade. Heydenryk showed surpise and asked if I had no brush. I explained that since low areas of the frame would be dirtied in the antiquing process, I applied what was called "German Goldleaf" to these areas and used genuine gold only for highlights. With the razorblade, I could pick up small pieces of gold leaf and easily apply them. It saved us a considerable amount of money and no one noticed the difference. When he was finished taking notes on his tablet, he personally sought my employ in his Manhattan Island place of business. <http://www.heydenryk.com/history.html>

By that time, however, God had made it clear to me that I should serve him as a missionary in Europe.

I worked in the Museum and Gallery 4 years including six months after graduating.  When I left in January, 1963, I received a special bonus. I was permitted to pick the most beautiful work of art to have as my own.  I tell people that I found my wife in a museum, but she is quick to counter, "It was an art gallery!"

I graduated from Bob Jones University in May, 1962 and Verna graduated in January, 1963.  We were married on March 9, 1963. 

We were planning our wedding long before we were engaged. In fact, we never did get engaged! I supposed that I would have to give Verna a diamond, but never had enough money to pay my school bills, let alone buy a diamond ring. One evening when we were looking through a catalog, trying to decide on wedding rings, Verna said, "When I stop to think about it Ralph, you have never really asked me to marry you!" That startled me for a moment. Then I replied, "Well, it's too late now; which rings do you like?"

A quarter of a century later, Verna was cleaning up the kitchen in the Austrian Bible Institute while several students were operating the dish washer. I walked into the kitchen and one of the students said, "Tell us about your courtship with Verna!" With no hesitation, I said, "I can tell you honestly that I never kissed my wife before we were married."  There was silence for a moment and then the questioner exclaimed, "You can't be serious!" I went on to explain that she was not my wife until we were married! About that time, Verna spoke up and told the students that I never asked her to marry me. They turned to me and asked if that was true. I admitted that it was and jokingly added, "If a guy intends to be head of the house, he had better not start out by asking his future wife for permission to marry her!" I should have known better than to say that in Verna's presence. I promptly got a glass of water in my face!

I was totally ignorant about such matters and didn’t know that it is customary if not mandatory to ask the girl’s father for the hand of his daughter. If someone had told me that, I probably would have done so, but then, I hadn’t even asked her. We only had one daughter and her husband is a perfect gentleman who does everything right. I felt ashamed of myself for having been such a heel!  

ABOUT MY WIFE, VERNA

I have always been impressed with Verna's wisdom. Soon after our marriage, we decided to move the trailer that we lived in. It was sitting on blocks and three men struggled to get it back down onto its wheels. When we tried to jack it up to remove the blocks, however, the jack wouldn't work. We tried prying with a wooden beam, but it broke. Verna overheard us deliberating and came over to see what our problem was. "Can I be of some help?" she asked. Pop just grinned and replied, "No, this is a tough enough job for men!" Verna quickly sized up the situation and asked, "Why don't you get a shovel and dig under the cement blocks?" Three men looked at each other in disgust and went to get shovels!

Verna looked quite innocent, but was always game for a practical joke. When one of the men came home from work on April Fool's Day, he found honey smeared on the door handles of his car. I got the blame for it, since "there was no one else around who would do such a thing." I knew better, for that very morning I had been served a "new kind of breakfast cereal", which turned out to be dog food! We had been married less than a month.

Verna is not always quick with words but one can count on a physical response. While involved in youth work in Austria, a young baker's apprentice stopped to visit just as Verna took a cake out of the oven. To her chagrin, the cake had flopped. The youth, Peter, saw the catastrophe and made a slighting comment. Before he could react, Verna planted the cake in his face! 

On another occasion, she was wiping tables after a fellowship dinner at our church in Ampflwang. Several men were still seated at the table talking, and Hubert, the head deacon, pointed to the table and said, "You missed a spot!" Verna dutifully wiped it and he promptly pointed to another, and another... Without warning, Verna said, "I missed another place," and with that, she  took the same wash cloth and wiped the deacon's face! Hubert was seldom at a loss for words, but this time he was speechless!

When Verna does speak, it often comes out wrong, but the results are more often humerous than tragic. Shortly before I had an operation on my eyelid for skin cancer, Verna told Becky, "We are still waiting for the results of your Dad's autopsy" (biopsy). After the operation, she said to a friend, "I am supposed to be applying cold compost (compresses) to Ralph's eyes every couple of hours, but he keeps protesting." In describing our daughter's wedding, she said, "The men were all wearing contrabands (cumberbunds) around their waists"

ENDEARMENTS

During language study in Vienna, we practiced our German on each other and I am sure that if anyone had heard us, they would have had fits of laughter. Even the progression of endearments was hilarious: We started with "Ich lieben Sie" (literal dictionary translation of the words "I love you"). Then we learned that there are the familiar and formal forms of the word "you", so we began saying "Ich lieben Du" to each other. Once we realized that there are four cases in German, we switched appropriately to "Ich lieben Dich" (accusative case). But this was still incorrect, for the verb changes with each case. At some time during our language study, we began to verbalize our affection in proper German: "Ich liebe Dich".

We were always trying to outdo each other with endearments, but I almost got slugged for my efforts on one occasion. Verna said, "I love you" and I responded by saying "I love you more". Not to be outdone, Verna continued with "I love you most".  Now I don't give up very easily, so I responded with "I love you more than most!"  That can be taken in several ways, but Verna at least pretended to understand the wrong interpretation. She never let me forget that! 

Another of our little private jokes began at some time in the distant past. One of us says, "I itch, do you scratch?" and the other answers, "I scratch, do you itch?" 

A number of couples have told us that they wanted to pattern their marriages after ours. That gives us great joy, but it also makes us careful to lead a model life together. This doesn't mean that we "fake it" though. We once attended a marriage seminar in which the speaker said, "If you seldom quarrel, something is wrong with your marriage." We both spent time trying to figure out what was wrong with our relationship, but finally agreed that God was right and the speaker was wrong. Harmony is normal and fighting isn't.

When we were getting ready for church or some dress-up occasion, Verna would frequently scratch her head and ask, "What should I wear?" I didn't take her too seriously, for my suggestions would not likely have been heeded. On the other hand, when I was getting dressed, she would often tell me, "Oh no, you can't wear that!" I once asked her how she knew what I should NOT wear, but seldom knew what SHE should wear. She just looked at me in disgust and muttered, "men!" This reminds me of a couple who were driving a long distance to their vacation spot. After driving for several hours, the husband asked his wife to take the wheel. She had only been driving for a few minutes when heavy traffic and construction work confused her and she asked, "What should I do now?" The husband retorted, "If you were sitting in this seat you would know."

Verna can testify to my occasional temper outbursts when things aren't going as I think they should, but she would be quick to add that I don't vent my anger on her. Sure, we differ at times and even discuss those differences. A few times, we even got up tight about something the other did or said, but those occasions are quite rare and some have become family jokes. The best part is kissing and making up! If something is wrong with our marriage for that reason, we can live with it!

Women don't like boring lovers and neither does God! Our love for each other and for the Lord has always been exciting and fulfilling. We don't think that this is any coincidence either! We hear people say, "Marriage is a matter of give and take", but we don't swallow that nonsense. Marriage, or any relationship for that matter, is "give and receive". Never once in over 50 years has either of us reminded the other of our marriage vows. We are committed to each other. 

MEADVILLE

My wife Verna was born to William and Melissa Morse, of Meadville, Pennsylvania. Meadville had the Talon Zipper Company, Channel-Lock Tool Company and other businesses that once made the city well-known. Most have moved away or closed down but Meadville is still a pleasant place to live and shop. Verna was a first child, born when her mother was forty years old and a brother was born two years later.

THE MORSE - COOPER CONNECTION

Her father was born 1901, near Titusville, home of the world's first drilled oil well (1859). We have never seen the documents that prove it, but some of Verna's relatives claim to have traced their roots back to Samuel F. B. Morse, who not only invented the Morse Code and telegraph, but was also a talented painter. 

My maternal Grandmother, Alice Remaley Pedicord, was the great-granddaughter of Naboth Cooper, half brother of William Cooper who founded Cooperstown, New York in 1790. Cooperstown is now a popular tourist town and home of the Baseball Hall of Fame. William Cooper was the father of James Fennimore Cooper, who wrote 33 novels, five volumes of travel books, A History of the Navy and numerous volumes of social comment. 

James Fennimore Cooper was a close friend of Samuel F. B. Morse. His famous painting "The Gallery of Louvre", displaying a wall filled with miniature paintings, was a gift to Cooper. TIME Magazine reported the sale of this painting in 1982 as follows:

TIME Magazine, August 9, 1982

The $3.25 million price was the largest ever paid for an American painting. But what would no doubt please painter Samuel F. B. Morse more is the fact that his canvas Gallery of the Louvre has been plucked from dusty storage at Syracuse University, and will now be displayed with due fanfare by its new owner, Daniel J. Terra, 71, at his two-year-old Terra Museum of American Art in Evanston, Ill. The painting was meant to be a sort of early-American effort at cultural packaging 38 of the world's greatest masterpieces all on one canvas. Depicted, in remarkable detail, are the works of such artists as Da Vinci, Rubens, Raphael, Titian and Rembrandt. Conceived by Morse and Novelist James Fennimore Cooper (the creator along with Cooper and his family are the spectators in the work), Gallery was painted by Morse in 1832, about the same time he turned his inventive talents to the telegraph and Morse code. Terra, a chemical industry magnate who is President Reagan's ambassador-at-large for cultural affairs, bought the work (with his own money) in the hope of fulfilling Morse and Cooper's dream. Says the happy new owner: "Here you have these two great figures of their time trying to bring European culture to America. I hope it's a bit like my job."

So far, we have received no inheritance or royalties as a result of our relationship to such prominent Americans! I did profit in one way, however. My mother had 28 of JFC's books and I read them all!

OUR CALLING

Although we both felt that God wanted us in missions, Verna was not certain about where God wanted her to serve when we started dating. I was confident that God was leading me to Austria. That is a complicated story, but I will attempt to explain.

After supper each weekday, volunteer groups of students gathered in classrooms to pray for missions. There were groups for every region of the world and I made the rounds, praying one evening for Africa, the next for Asia and so on. One evening I was visiting the Europe prayer group when the leader announced that he had gotten a job and would not be able to continue. He asked for someone to volunteer, but no one did. The leader stopped me on my way out and asked if I would be willing to at least take the next few days until someone could be found. Very little work was involved. I would only need to pass out cards with requests written on them and collect them afterwards. I agreed.

I soon discovered that it was also up to me to find another leader. And I was supposed to read mission newsletters and magazines to glean prayer requests. I decided to take the job for a year, which became two. One of my mission classes required students to do a report on some country of the world. In the prayer group, we had requests from most European nations, but none from Austria, so I decided to do my report on that country. This was only the beginning, but it turned my face in that direction. Step by step, my interest increased and soon it had become clear to me, that God was directing not only my face, but also my feet towards Austria.

COMMITTMENT
So we wound up serving as missionaries in Austria, a country that had been given the nickname  "missionary graveyard." Dr. Bob Evans wrote the standard textbook for missions in Europe, Let Europe Hear! in which he made that assessment. He also wrote that very few missionaries last more than one term in Austria. 

After nearly four decades of service in Austria, we were getting ready to retire. At the National Christian Workers Conference in October of 2002, the leader called us to the front of the hall and asked us to reveal the secret of our longevity. I replied that we had misunderstood what was meant by "missionary graveyard."  We thought it meant we had to stay until we died! 

There was laughter followed by applause. Those who knew us didn't need an explanation. They knew we were not only committed to Austria, but also to each other and God. We were sometimes discouraged and felt like quitting, but then we remembered our commitment. 

CHOOSING A MISSION
We applied to Gospel Fellowship Association but were turned down. The Director of the mission examined my school records and felt that I didn't have the aptitude to learn a foreign language.  

About thirty years later, Dr. Marvin Lewis was Director of GFA. You recall that his sister had married Verna's pastor, who in turn married us. His wife was the one who encouraged me to ask Verna for a date (against school rules). They came to visit us while traveling in Europe. We enjoyed a pleasant visit and they were particularly impressed with our newly founded Austrian Bible Institute. Dr. Lewis asked why we had not joined their mission. I enjoyed the expression on his face, when I told him that we were rejected.

Dr. Gilbert Stenholm, Dean of the School of Religion, suggested applying to "Worldwide European Fellowship".  The WEF said that I would need to terminate my relationship with Verna and cancel marriage plans before applying. Even if both of us were accepted, we were not to begin a relationship until both of us had spent one term on the field. I later discovered that if we had married first and then applied, there would have been no problem.  We decided to keep shopping. 

Dr. James Stewart was a frequent speaker at Bible Conferences. I had read his books about missionary service in Europe and asked him to recommend a mission.  He recommended the "European Evangelistic Crusade," a mission which he himself had founded. We applied and were accepted as candidates in February, 1963. We got married the following month.

WEDDING PLANS

We chose March 9, 1963 as our wedding date. My 25th birthday was on the eighth of March and I wanted to be a full-fledged bachelor for at least one day! My only day of bachelorhood was filled with housework: peeling potatoes, polishing silver and other jobs in preparation for the wedding. There is an advantage however, to having my birthday right before our anniversary. Unless Verna forgot my birthday, it would be difficult for me to forget our anniversary!

I completed my studies in May, 1962, but worked in the gallery and in a downtown photo studio and frame shop until Verna finished her last semester in January, 1963.

For our trip north, I purchased a 1950 Packard from a University Art Professor for $45. A tree had fallen on the car, crushing the roof, but the car was otherwise in “top” condition. I crawled inside and laying on the seat, kicked out the roof with my feet. I sprained an ankle in the process but it worked. 

I had virtually no money before the wedding. Income from my jobs in the art gallery and photo studio, buying and selling cars and repairing umbrellas barely covered college debts. A month before our wedding, I borrowed $700 from the bank and purchased a 28' 1956 "Cadet Buddy" trailer for our first home. It needed much work, but after painting it, installing a new hot water heater, Formica counter top and making other repairs, it was livable. When we sold it a year later, we got all of our money back including the cost of improvements.

Recently, I discovered a scrap of paper on which I had noted the cost of a trip from Elmer, NJ to Meadville, PA and return in July of 1962. The 800-mile round trip including bridge tolls over the Delaware River came to less than $15. 

OUR WEDDING

Our wedding took place in the First Baptist Church of Meadville. My brothers dutifully decorated our old Packard and Verna's parents helped to make our wedding a memorable one. Years afterward, the pastor stated that ours was the nicest wedding of his career. My father injured his back shortly before the wedding date and had to lay on his back in their 1956 Pontiac station wagon for the eight-hour trip across Pennsylvania. Hundreds of relatives and guests attended the wedding, bringing piles of lovely gifts. I only had about $50 to my name and was secretly hoping for some cash gifts, but there was no such luck. These were the days before credit cards!
We left in our Packard for a two-night honeymoon in Niagara Falls.  The weather was icy cold and snow drifts along the road nearly reached the telephone wires. Our motel room was equipped with steam heat and a TV, yet cost only $4 per night.  Gasoline was cheap and we ate inexpensive meals, so we still had $5 when we arrived back in New Jersey. Half way home, the rear wheel bearing started to make strange noises and by the time we reached the Delaware Memorial Bridge, it was literally screaming. We prayed the car all the way to our little trailer home. As we drove into the driveway, the car finally stopped and refused to move another inch. Later inspection showed that the wheel bearing was welded to the axle. A farm implement dealer happened to have an old Packard sitting on his lot and agreed to sell me the entire rear axle for my last $5 bill. 

Having ten brothers and sisters, one might suppose that I would have attended many weddings, yet other than my own, I was only able to get to my brother John's wedding. John got married before I did and he and his wife probably wished that they had not invited me! That may be one reason that my other brothers and sisters planned their wedding dates for times when I could not attend. I did get to my brother Dan’s second wedding.
Being well acquainted with the potential deeds of his five brothers, John and Carolyn decided to play it safe. Weeks before the wedding, they packed their suitcase for the honeymoon, loaded it into their VW Beetle, and hid the car in an empty garage far from Daretown. Just in case we should happen to find the hiding place, John made certain that both the car and garage were securely locked.

This is precisely the kind of precaution that we expected of John. He was always a careful calculator, who left nothing to chance. That is why we made a sneak copy of his car keys even before he had thought of hiding the vehicle. He made the mistake of gloating to us that no one would find his car. 

At the wedding reception, the happy pair was opening the numerous gift packages. When the blushing bride picked up one very flat package, the Harvey boys strained to watch their reaction upon opening it. Carolyn's face turned ashen as she pulled out the license tags of their VW! John tried to comfort her by saying that the car was locked up. At least their honeymoon suitcase would be undisturbed. This last hope was dashed when they unwrapped the spare tire! It would be difficult to tell what John might have done to us if we had not succeeded in convincing them that their car and suitcase were unmolested. We forgot to tell them that we had turned on the gas reserve switch (early beetles were not equipped with tank gauges), so they ran out of gas on their honeymoon. 

Considering this, we can be thankful that our wedding was relatively peaceful and without incident. Verna somehow got her wedding vows mixed up and when it came time for the pastor to present us as man and wife, our ring bearer shouted loud enough for all to hear, "All done!"  Some of the church members still claim that ours was the most beautiful wedding that had ever been held in that church. It was indisputably the beginning of the best marriage!

DRAFT DODGER

The US Army was drafting for the war in Vietnam, and soon after our wedding, I was requested to appear for my physical. The medics rated me A-1, meaning that I would be first to be inducted. I tried everything to get out of this, but nothing worked.  The clerk in the Draft Board Office, said that she knew my Grandfather and would do what she could to help. She issued a new enlistment card with the current date. She then explained that I had 30 days to appeal my A1 qualification.  The 30 days would be up just after the monthly Draft Board Meeting. That would give us two months time for a doctor to attest to Verna being pregnant! I later checked and discovered that two months was not enough time, but I was able to gain an extra month. The date for the Draft Board Meeting collided with Verna's graduation date (she actually graduated in January, but marched with her class in June).  I asked for permission to attend her graduation. To my amazement, they agreed!  Three months was sufficient time to get the doctor's attest. I appeared before the Board and received the cherished deferment. 

FIRST CHILD
Ralph Jr. was born on January 10, 1964. On the morning after Verna gave birth, I had an interesting experience. On my way to the hospital to visit, several cars coming toward me blinked their headlights. I drove carefully, keeping a watchful eye open for the notorious Elmer radar trap. When I reached town, where the hospital was located, cars were still flashing their lights. I could never remember seeing radar set up on the other side of Elmer and decided to drive a bit further, just out of curiosity. After two or three miles, I gave up and turned around, still wondering where the police radar was hidden. The first car I met flashed its lights! I looked down and discovered that my own high beams were turned on!

DEPUTATION

During the next months, we both worked and had deputation meetings. Verna did substitute teaching, and I worked in the family construction business. Support began to come in and we had soon saved close to $1000 towards passage and outfitting expenses. In faith, we booked passage on the "S.S.United States" for July 17, 1964.  

Soon afterwards, our baby developed pneumonia and had to spend a week in the hospital. When we received the bill for over $1000, it looked like we would have to cancel our booking. The Lord provided in a most wonderful way, however. The hospital Business Manager called us into his office. "I understand that your sustenance is provided through charitable gifts," he began. We started to explain that we were missionaries, but he interrupted and continued with a smile, "We have a special fund for welfare recipients, and I am happy to inform you that there will be no charges for your child's hospital stay!" 

That year was an eventful one. In addition to the birth of our first child and his bout with pneumonia, we sold our ´50 Packard for $50 ($5 more than the purchase price) after logging more than 20,000 miles. Verna bought a nice '50 Oldsmobile for our deputation travels while I was at work. On November 22, 1963, President John F.Kennedy was assassinated and in the same year, the town of my birth burned. About thirty houses and many stores of Quinton went up in flames. Soon afterward, my grandfather died. Having served many years as Fire Chief in Quinton, some believe that the big fire was a contributing factor in his death.

THE COUNTDOWN

It was our final Sunday in America, before the scheduled departure of our ship, the S.S. United States, hopefully with us aboard. We still needed $25 of pledged monthly support, and mission rules forbade us to leave for the field unless 100% had been committed. A wealthy individual who had often asked about our support needs, said after the Sunday morning worship service, that he would make certain that we were not left standing on the pier. "If you are short, just give me a call!" We would see him again in the Wednesday night prayer meeting. 

After the church service that day, a child named Ricky sheepishly approached us and said that he wanted to help. He emptied his piggy bank into our hands, a total of 75 cents! We later wrote him that we had purchased a German-English pocket dictionary with his gift. 

Twenty-eight years later, I was speaking to a group of children in the same church. I shared this memorable incident with them, saying how much it meant to us. I then added that the child who had given us his savings back then, was now married and very active in their church; in fact, two of his children were sitting in that group! 

Prayer meeting night came and although many prayed for our urgent need, we were still lacking $25 a month support when the day of our departure arrived. In all good faith that the Lord could somehow provide, we headed for New York City, where the "S.S. United States" was waiting at the pier. Our baggage was stowed away in the hold, and we nervously prayed for God's miraculous provision. The Mission Director came to see us off and sternly reminded us of mission regulations, which prohibited our departure until the entire support base had been pledged.  He said that according to mission records, we still needed $25 per month and $400 for outfitting. We had completely forgotten that outfitting needs must also be met! 

There were still several hours before departure.  The words of that wealthy individual were going through my mind, "If you don't have all your support, just give me a call. We won't leave you standing on the pier!" I still had the slip of paper with his phone number in my pocket. I asked Verna if she thought that we should call this man. We both agreed that this was not the way God supplies. The man had ample time to offer his pledge and we only wanted support from people who were giving in obedience to God. We promised the Mission Director that we were prepared to debark from the ship if the missing amount was not provided!  

Within minutes of making this statement, Pastor Shumaker, of Calvary Baptist Church, Flemington, New Jersey came on board.  He was the former pastor of our church who had tried to discourage me from applying to Bob Jones University six years earlier. He announced that the church had called a special business meeting on the previous evening. They voted to pledge $40 per month!  He then handed us a special love-gift from the church for $400!  Incidentally, 28 years later, this church gave our son Richard the last pledge needed, enabling him to begin missionary service in Austria!

Friends and relatives held paper streamers, which one by one, began to break as the ship gradually moved away from the pier. Our attention was drawn to a woman on the pier, who seemed to be very excited about something. We discovered that her husband was standing next to us, trying to decipher the meaning of her hand motions and yelling. Suddenly, I was able to make out the word "keys" and shared this information with her husband. His face turned pale as he reached into his pocket and pulled out a set of car and house keys. With all his might, he hurled them in the direction of the pier just in time. Someone got hit on the head, but the wife was relieved!
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